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HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN CHINA

33/F, Golden Wheel International Plaza
No. 8, Hanzhong Road

Nanjing

China

PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit A, 18/F, Lee & Man Commercial Center
169 Electric Road

Fortress Hill

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17/F, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China (Hong Kong)

BOCI Asia Limited

Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited

Hang Seng Bank Limited

Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
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INVESTOR AND PUBLIC RELATIONS

IR@gwtd.com.hk

STOCK CODE

1232

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.gwtd.com.hk

Golden Wheel Tiandi Holdings Company Limited (“Golden Wheel” or the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) were listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong
Stock Exchange” or the “Stock Exchange”) in January 2013 (Stock Code:
1232). The Group’s major businesses include investment holding, commercial and
residential property development, property investment, property management and
hotel operation. The Group is an integrated commercial and residential property
developer, owner and operator in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”) and focuses on developing projects that are physically connected or in close

proximity to metro stations or other transportation hubs.
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company is pleased to
announce the unaudited consolidated results of the Group for the six months ended

30 June 2020.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Since December 2019, coronavirus outbreak has spread across China and many
countries worldwide. The Group’s business, especially property leasing and hotel
operation, has been significantly affected by the pandemic. During the first half
of 2020, especially in the first quarter, China’s property market suffered a critical
setback as both construction activities and sales activities were required to be

suspended in order to contain the spread of the pandemic.

Starting from the second quarter of 2020, after the successful containment of the
pandemic in most of the cities in China, market sentiment has gradually improved,
and the Group has accelerated the launch of its pre-sale projects. As a result, the
Group was still managed to achieve a high contracted sales during the reporting
period which was in line with its budget. For the six months ended 30 June 2020,
contracted sales of the Group and its joint ventures and associates amounted to

RMB1,754.8 million.

Property leasing and hotel operation business of the Group have been largely affected
by the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic in the first quarter of 2020. The Group
has voluntarily granted rental waivers to its lessees and the Group’s hotels in China
were also temporarily closed for a few months as required by the local government
authorities. Fortunately, businesses have gradually resumed normal in the second
quarter of 2020. Therefore, the Group believed that the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic on the Group’s overall business is subsiding and, barring unforeseen
circumstances, will not have any material adverse impact on the Group’s financial

position.

Contracted sales

The Group currently has more than 10 projects on sale. During the reporting period,
the Group has launched the pre-sale of two new projects, namely Wuxi Golden
Wheel Starry Plaza and Yangzhou No 1 Golden Bay. For the six months ended 30
June 2020, the Group and its joint ventures and associates achieved total contracted
sales value and contracted sales area of approximately RMB1,754.8 million (30 June
2019: RMB1,867.4 million) and approximately 130,487 sq.m. (30 June 2019:
151,667 sq.m.), respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Property sales

For the six months ended 30 June 2020, the Group’s revenue from sale of properties
amounted to approximately RMB336.8 million with an aggregate gross floor area
(“GFA”) of approximately 24,491 sq.m. being sold and delivered. The average
selling price of these sold properties amounted to approximately RMB13,750 per

$q.m.

As at 30 June 2020, there were total unrecognised contracted sales of RMB2,464.7
million. These unrecognised contracted sales are expected to be recognised in the
second half of 2020 and in 2021 as and when the related projects are completed and

delivered.

Land bank of the Group
The Group did not acquire any new land during the first half of 2020.

As at 30 June 2020, the Group had a total land bank of GFA of 1,563,490 sq.m.,
including 99,594 sq.m. of completed but unsold properties, 13,147 sq.m. of own
used properties, 190,566 sq.m. of completed investment properties, 946,777 sq.m.
of properties under development and 313,406 sq.m. of properties developed by joint

venture and associate entities.

Property leasing

As a result of the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group had voluntarily
granted rental waivers of around one to three months to its lessees with an aim
to ease the financial pressure on the Group’s customers and to maintain customer

relationship.

As at 30 June 2020, the Group had completed investment properties with a total

GFA of approximately 190,566 sq.m. The overall occupancy rate of the Group’s

investment properties for the six months ended 30 June 2020 was around 80%.
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Metro leasing and operational management business

In March 2020, the Group has established a subsidiary, namely Wuxi Metro City
Commercial Management Company Led (4 $5 4l 8 75 35 & # A R A 7), with
Wuxi Metro Resource Development Company (85 888 5 VR B 85 PR A D).
The Group’s equity interest in the subsidiary is 60%. During the reporting period,
the subsidiary had signed the leasing and operational management contract with
the local authority in relation to the underground commercial space in 8 stations on
Wuxi Metro Lines 3 and 4 for a terms of 10 years. The total leasable GFA of these 8

stations amounted to approximately 45,500 sq.m.

As at 30 June 2020, the Group had leasing and operational management contracts of
23 metro station shopping malls in four cities in mainland China, namely, Nanjing,
Suzhou, Wuxi and Changsha with a total leasable GFA of around 113,400 sq.m.
As at 30 June 2020, 10 metro station shopping malls were under operation and the

overall occupancy rate was approximately 80%.

The Group had completed the disposal of Silka West Kowloon Hotel in Hong Kong
in December 2019. During the six months ended 30 June 2020, the Group’s hotel
operation in China was temporarily closed for more than two months as required
by the local government authorities as a result of the outbreak of the COVID-19
pandemic. As such, the Group’s hotel income for the six months ended 30 June

2020 was largely affected.

As at 30 June 2020, the Group had two hotels under operation, namely Golden
Wheel Atour Hotel in Nanjing and Golden Wheel Hampton by Hilton in
Changsha. Total number of rooms for these two hotels amounts to 315. Average
room occupancy rate of these two hotels during the reporting period was 56%. As
the COVID-19 pandemic became more contained, such rate climbed up to 80% for
June 2020.

The Group’s major investment was its equity investment in the shares of Xiamen
International Bank Co., Ltd. As at 30 June 2020, the Group had 34 million (31
December 2019: 34 million) unlisted equity shares of Xiamen International
Bank Co., Ltd with a carrying value of RMB209.1 million (31 December 2019:
RMB203.1 million). The investment is for long-term purpose and it can also further
enhance the business relationship between the Group and Xiamen International

Bank.

£l K i ¥ Bt A B A 5 GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
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The Group’s first commercial project in Hong Kong has completed and the
occupancy permit was obtained in July 2020. The project is located near Tin Hau
MTR Station in Hong Kong and is a commercial building with a total GFA of
approximately 51,975 square feet.

The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic has caused severe distuptions to Hong
Kong economics and business activities, resulting in an increase in vacancy of
office building as well as a decrease in rental for offices and retail shops. As such,
the Group’s first commercial project in Hong Kong is expected to face much more
difficulties when the Group launches the project. Nevertheless, the Group had
already secured a few preliminary lease agreements as at 30 June 2020 and more

marketing activities will be carried out in the second half of 2020.

In January 2020, the Group issued senior notes in an aggregate principal amount
of USD200 million, bearing coupon rate of 12.95% per annum and due in March
2022. Proceeds from this issue were applied in refinancing the existing indebtedness
of the Group, including the repurchase of part of the senior notes in the principal
amount of USD400 million issued by the Group, bearing coupon rate of 7% per

annum and due in January 2021.

OUTLOOK

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the global economic environment in 2020 is full
of uncertainties. Fortunately, under the decisive control measures imposed by the
Chinese government, the epidemic was basically contained in mid-March 2020 in
mainland China. The property market has gained momentum in recent months
supported by policy stimulus and as travel curbs to halt the spread of the coronavirus
were lifted in most regions in China. It is expected that the property market will

keep improving in the second half of the 2020 as infections fall.

To ensure continuing growth in the Group’s property development business, it is
the strategy of the Group to have a land bank that can support the Group’s stable
growth for at least the next three years. As at 30 June 2020, the Group had a land
bank of GFA of 1,563,490 sq.m. which should meet the needs of the Group’s new
three-year development plan. In the second half of 2020, the Group will exercise
extra caution when looking for good development opportunities. The Group will
only invest in the areas that it is familiar as well as projects that can generate

reasonable return.
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Although the Group did not have new projects completed in the first half of 2020,
it was expected that in the second half of 2020, three projects, namely Nanjing
Golden Wheel Romantic Tower, Nanjing Golden Wheel Shuiying Hua Ting
and Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jingiao Huafu, will be completed and delivered. In
addition, the Group has scheduled to launch the pre-sale of a commercial project in
Nanjing, namely Nanjing Golden Wheel Galaxy Center, in the second half of 2020.
This is the Group’s best quality project ever as the land is in a prime location, which
is in a walking distance to Nanjing South Station and the land cost is only around
RMB4,000 per sq.m. The project has a total saleable GFA of 242,000 sq.m. with a
total saleable value of approximately RMB4.0 billion.

For leasing business, a new shopping mall with a total GFA of 15,774 sq.m., namely
Golden Wheel Binary Star Plaza, is scheduled to be opened in the last quarter
of 2020. As at 30 June 2020, this new shopping mall has already secured lease
agreements to lease out over 90% of its total leasable area. As such, the Group is
confident that recurring rental income will continue to achieve a reasonable growth
in the second half of 2020. The Group’s strategy is to continue building up its

investment property portfolio so as to maintain a stable return to its shareholders.

After the disposal of its entire interest in Double Advance Group Limited, which
owns the Silka West Kowloon Hotel in Hong Kong, in December 2019, the Group
had two hotels under operations and three hotels under development. All of the
hotels under development are expected to start operation by end of this year or early

next year.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to carry out its core strategy, that is
“Focusing on the development and operation of projects that are physically
connected to metro stations or other transportation hub”. Together with the Group’s
prudent financial management, the Group believes it could maintain its competitive

edge for further development and expansion.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue consists of revenue derived from (i) sale of developed properties;
(ii) rental income from property leasing; and (iii) income from hotel operation. The
following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s revenue and the percentage of

total revenue for the periods indicated:

BETHHBIEAMEA
For the six months ended
“RIREANH=TH e K VA =y B
30 June 2020 30 June 2019
(REER) (REEHF)
(unaudited) (unaudited)
AR¥Frx % ARWFIL %
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
336,758 76.8 422,191 75.2
89,420 20.4 109,035 19.4
12,114 2.8 29,964 5.4
438,292 100.0 561,190 100.0

The Group’s revenue was primarily generated from its sale of developed properties,
which accounted for 76.8% of its revenue for the six months ended 30 June 2020
(six months ended 30 June 2019: 75.2%), rental income from property leasing,
which accounted for 20.4% of its revenue for the six months ended 30 June 2020
(six months ended 30 June 2019: 19.4%) and income from hotel operation, which
accounted for 2.8% of its revenue for the six months ended 30 June 2020 (six
months ended 30 June 2019: 5.4%). Revenue decreased by 21.9% from RMB561.2
million for the six months ended 30 June 2019 to RMB438.3 million for the six
months ended 30 June 2020, primarily due to the outbreak of the COVID-19
pandemic resulting in a decrease in revenue generated from all business segments of

the Group for the current period.
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Property development

Revenue derived from the property development business decreased by 20.2% from
RMB422.2 million for the six months ended 30 June 2019 to RMB336.8 million
for the six months ended 30 June 2020. This decrease was primarily due to the
decrease in the total GFA sold and delivered during the first half of 2020 as the
construction and sales activities of the Group have been seriously affected during the
first quarter of 2020 due to the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic. In addition,
during the reporting period, the Group did not have new project completed and
delivered, while one project was completed and delivered in the corresponding

period last year.

Property leasing

Revenue derived from property leasing decreased by 18.0% to RMB89.4 million for
the six months ended 30 June 2020 (six months ended 30 June 2019: RMB109.0
million). The decrease was mainly due to the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic.
During the six months ended 30 June 2020, the Group voluntarily granted rental
waivers of around one to three months to its lessees in view of the on-going outbreak
of the COVID-19 pandemic, with an aim to ease the financial pressure on the

Group’s customers and to maintain customer relationship.

Hotel operation

Revenue derived from hotel operation decreased by 59.6% to RMB12.1 million for
the six months ended 30 June 2020 (six months ended 30 June 2019: RMB30.0
million). The decrease was primarily due to the disposal of Silka West Kowloon
Hotel in December 2019 which had generated a revenue of RMB12.8 million for the
corresponding period last year. In addition, due to the outbreak of the COVID-19
pandemic, the Group’s hotels in China were temporarily closed for more than two

months as required by the local government authorities.
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Cost of sales
The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s cost of sales for the

periods indicated:

BETHHBIEAMEA
For the six months ended
“RIREANH=TH “ER-NEASHZTH
30 June 2020 30 June 2019
(RBFE) (RBEHF)
(unaudited) (unaudited)
AR Frx % ARW¥FIL %
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
7 3 E B % Property development
— i b A — Land acquisition costs 105,366 33.9 123,672 43.0
— R A — Construction costs 145,474 46.8 108,175 37.6
— B G A — Capitalised finance costs 33,698 11.0 26,175 9.1
—FiIE B S — Tax expenses 2,932 0.9 3,891 1.4
N Subtotal 287,470 92.6 261,913 91.1
EiN -y Property leasing 11,114 3.6 9,688 3.4
TG i e Hotel operation 12,026 3.8 15,866 5.5
At Total 310,610 100.0 287,467 100.0

HERAHEE -FUEASNA =T HIEAHE
HIANR ¥ 2875 HE I NS 1% ZHE — %
FHENAZFHIEAEA AR 106 8T
Ty 5 R S AR L R S M B Y B
B AR -

Cost of sales increased by 8.1% from RMB287.5 million for the six months ended
30 June 2019 to RMB310.6 million for the six months ended 30 June 2020,
primarily due to the increase in cost of sales from property development which was

mainly caused by the increase in construction costs.
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Gross profit and gross profit margin

Gross profit decreased by 53.4% from RMB273.7 million for the six months ended
30 June 2019 to RMB127.7 million for the six months ended 30 June 2020,
primarily due to the decrease in revenue generated from all three business segments

of the Group which was mainly caused by the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Gross profit margin of the Group decreased from 48.8% for the six months ended
30 June 2019 to 29.1% for the six months ended 30 June 2020, primarily due to

the decrease in gross profit margin of the sale of developed properties.

The gross profit margin of the sale of developed properties decreased from 38.0%
for the six months ended 30 June 2019 to 14.6% for the six months ended 30 June
2020. The decrease was mainly because the properties sold and recognised as revenue
during the reporting period had a lower gross profit margin due to its location as

well as its composition which included mainly residential units.

The gross profit margin for property leasing decreased from 91.1% for the six
months ended 30 June 2019 to 87.6% for the six months ended 30 June 2020.
Rental waivers were given to the lessees of the Group in the first quarter of 2020,
resulted in lesser amount of rental income received. Notwithstanding the decrease in
rental income, maintenance costs continued to be incurred, leading to the decrease

in gross profit margin for this business segment.

The gross profit margin for hotel operation decreased from 47.0% for the six months
ended 30 June 2019 to 0.7% for the six months ended 30 June 2020. The decrease
was mainly due to the temporary closure of hotels of the Group in China for more

than two months as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Changes in fair value of investment properties
The Group’s investment properties were revaluated at the end of each of the relevant
periods as at 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019 on an open market value or existing

use basis by an independent property valuer.

For the six months ended 30 June 2020, the Group recorded a fair value loss on
investment properties of RMB59.4 million (2019: a fair value gain of RMB155.1
million). This unrealised revaluation loss was mainly caused by the outbreak of the
COVID-19 pandemic which has adversely affected the rental income generated by

the Group’s operating investment properties.
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Other income, expense, gains and losses

The Group had a net gain of RMB15.9 million for other income, expense, gains and
losses for the six months ended 30 June 2020 (2019: RMB8.5 million). The net gain
for the six months ended 30 June 2020 mainly consisted of dividend and interest
income of RMB33.2 million (for the six months ended 30 June 2019: RMB18.1
million), fair value gain from financial assets at FVTPL of RMB5.9 million (for
the six months ended 30 June 2019: RMB20.3 million) and gain on repurchases of
senior notes of RMB19.5 million (for the six months ended 30 June 2019: loss from
repurchases of senior notes of RMB18.1 million), which were offset by net foreign
exchange losses of RMB47.2 million (for the six months ended 30 June 2019:
RMB12.4 million).

Selling and marketing expenses
Selling and marketing expenses primarily consisted of advertising and promotional

expenses.

Selling and marketing expenses increased from RMB23.8 million for the six months
ended 30 June 2019 to RMB25.1 million for the six months ended 30 June 2020,
mainly due to the increase in advertising and promotional expenses for the pre-sale

activities of projects during the reporting period.

Administrative expenses
Administrative expenses primarily consisted of staff salaries and benefits,
depreciation and amortisation, office expenses, travelling expenses, professional fees,

utilities and property tax, land use tax and stamp duty.

Administrative expenses decreased from RMB85.1 million for the six months
ended 30 June 2019 to RMB78.8 million for the six months ended 30 June
2020, representing a decrease of approximately 7.4% as compared with that in
the corresponding period of last year. During the reporting period, the Group
continued to maintain tight cost control policy. As a result, even though the Group
has increased its operating scale, the Group was able to further reduce its overall

administrative expenses.
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Share of profits of associates and joint ventures

The Group’s share of profits of associates and joint ventures amounted to RMB20.2
million during the six months ended 30 June 2020 (for the six months ended 30
June 2019: RMB118.0 million), mainly attributable to the share of a profit of
RMB27.3 million from one of the Group’s associates. The decrease in share of profits
of associates and joint ventures was due to the fact that in the corresponding period
last year, one of the Group’s associates had completed and delivered a project in
Nanjing with a higher gross profit margin of 33.0%, resulting in the Group’s share
of profits of associates of RMB109.8 million.

Finance costs

Finance costs consisted primarily of interest expenses on borrowings net of capital
finance costs. Finance costs increased from RMB74.1 million for the six months
ended 30 June 2019 to RMB105.7 million for the six months ended 30 June 2020,
primarily due to the overall increase in total borrowings as well as the increase in the
average cost of borrowings. As at 30 June 2020, the Group had total borrowings of
RMB6,730.7 million, while as at 30 June 2019, the Group’s total borrowings were
RMB6,688.3 million. In addition, the average cost of borrowings increased from
7.2% in 2019 to 10.4% in 2020.

Income tax

Tax expenses decreased by RMB105.0 million from RMB139.7 million for the six
months ended 30 June 2019 to RMB34.7 million for the six months ended 30 June
2020. The decrease was due to the decrease of PRC corporate income tax and land
appreciation tax resulted from the decrease in revenue from the sale of developed
properties as well as the decrease of gross profit margin of sale of developed

properties.

Loss/profit for the period

Due to the decrease in gross profit and the unrealised revaluation loss on investment
properties which were mainly caused by the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic,
the Group incurred a net loss of RMB139.9 million for the six months ended 30
June 2020, as compatred to a net profit of RMB232.7 million for the corresponding
period in 2019.
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Cash position

As at 30 June 2020, the Group’s cash and bank balances were RMB1,327.7 million
(31 December 2019: RMB1,753.6 million), including restricted bank deposits of
RMB523.7 million (31 December 2019: RMB774.4 million). The decrease in cash
and bank balances was mainly due to the decrease in cash collected from properties

sales as well as rental receivables as impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic.

Bank and other borrowings

As at 30 June 2020, the Group’s bank and other borrowings were RMB6,730.7
million (including senior notes of RMB3,439.7 million), representing an increase of
RMB302.4 million from RMB6,428.3 million as at 31 December 2019 (including
senior notes of RMB2,686.5 million). Of the bank borrowings, RMB2,321.7 million
are repayable within one year or on demand, RMB461.9 million are repayable
between one and two years and RMB507.4 million are repayable between two and
five years. Senior notes of RMB2,215.3 million are repayable within one year and

RMB1,224.4 million are repayable after one year.

As at 30 June 2020, the Group’s bank borrowings of RMB3,190.8 million were
secured by the properties, including property, plant and equipment, investment
properties, properties under development for sale and completed properties held
for sale, and cash of the Group with a total carrying value of RMB9,581.0 million.
The senior notes were secured by the share pledge of a majority of the Group’s

subsidiaries incorporated outside the PRC.

Except for the senior notes, the majority of the Group’s bank borrowings carried a
floating interest rate linked with the base lending rate of the People’s Bank of China,
London Inter-bank offered rate or Hong Kong Inter-bank offered rate. The Group’s
interest rate risk is mainly associated with the floating interest rates of its bank

borrowings.
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Cost of borrowings

For the six months ended 30 June 2020, the Group’s total cost of borrowings was
RMB301.1 million, representing an increase of RMB91.8 million or 43.9% as
compared to the figure in the corresponding period in 2019 which was RMB209.3
million. The increase was primarily due to the increase in average debt balance
as well as average borrowing cost in the reporting period as compared to the
corresponding period in 2019. The Group’s average costs of borrowings during the
six months ended 30 June 2020 and 2019 were approximately 10.4% and 7.2%,

respectively.

Gearing ratio

The net gearing ratio was calculated by dividing the total borrowings (net of cash,
structured and restricted bank deposits) by the total equity. As at 30 June 2020, the
net gearing ratio of the Group was 114.3% (31 December 2019: 96.8%).

The Group’s debt-to-asset ratio (total indebtedness divided by total assets) was
approximately 72.2% as at 30 June 2020 versus approximately 70.2% as at 31
December 2019.

Foreign exchange rate risk

The Group operates its businesses mainly in China and a majority of the Group’s
bank deposits and bank and other borrowings are denominated in Renminbi. Certain
bank deposits, bank borrowings and senior notes are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars or United States dollars. Fluctuations in foreign currencies’ exchange rates
have had and will continue to have an impact on the business, financial condition
and results of operations of the Group. The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy but the management monitors foreign exchange exposure
closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the

need arise.
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Contingent liabilities

The Group typically provides guarantees to banks in connection with its customers’
mortgage loans to finance their purchases of the Group’s properties. The Group’s
guarantees are released upon the banks receiving the individual property ownership
certificate of the respective properties from the customers as pledges for security to
the mortgage loan granted. If any such customer defaults on the mortgage payment
during the terms of the respective guarantees, the banks may demand the Group to
repay the outstanding amount of the mortgage loan of such defaulting customer and

any accrued interest thereon.

As at 30 June 2020, mortgage loan guarantees provided by the Group to the banks
in favour of its customers amounted to RMB492.2 million (31 December 2019:
RMB317.8 million). In the opinion of the Directors, the fair value of the guarantees

at initial recognition is insignificant as the default rate is low.

As at 30 June 2020, the Group had a total of approximately 694 (31 December
2019: 688) full-time employees in Hong Kong and China. The Group enters into
employment contracts with its employees to cover matters such as job position,
terms of employment, wage, employee benefits and liabilities for breaches and
grounds for termination. Remuneration of the Group’s employees includes basic
salaries, allowances, pensions, performance bonuses and share options. Remuneration
is determined with reference to the performance, skills, qualifications and experience

of the employee concerned and the prevailing industry practice.

Total employee costs for the period ended 30 June 2020, including Director’s
emoluments, amounted to approximately RMB45.8 million (six months ended 30
June 2019: RMB44.3 million).

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained the public float as required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) during the

period under review.
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LOAN AGREEMENT WITH COVENANTS RELATING
TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS OF THE
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

In accordance with the disclosure requirements under Rule 13.21 of the Listing
Rules, set out below are details of the Company’s term loan facility entered into
during the period ended 30 June 2020 and/or subsisting at the end of the period
ended 30 June 2020, which contains covenants requiring specific performance

obligations of the Company’s controlling shareholders:

On 30 November 2017, the Group entered into a facility agreement for a HKD330
million term loan facility. The loan agreement includes certain conditions requiring
the Company’s controlling shareholders, the Wong family (Mr. Wong Yam Yin,
Ms. Hung So Ling, Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry) to
maintain their status as the single largest shareholder of the Company. Failing to do
so would constitute an event of default under the loan facility agreement. The term
loan facility has a term of three years commencing from the date on which the first

advancement under the facility agreement is made.

On 10 July 2018, the Group entered into facility agreements for a HKD708 million
term loan facility. The loan agreement includes certain conditions requiring the
Wong family to maintain, directly or indirectly, at least 30% of the beneficial
interest of the Company. Failing to do so would constitute an event of default
under the facility agreements. The term loan facility has a term of two years from
drawdown of the loan of up to HKD200 million and a term of two and a half years

from the drawdown of the loan of up to HKD508 million.
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Name of Director

EHEe

Wong Yam Yin®
T o

Wong Kam Fai

FHR

Wong Kam Keung, Barry

Tjie Tjin Fung®

Suwita Janata®

Gunawan Kiky®
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DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING

SHARES AND DEBENTURES

B,/ AR

Capacity/Nature of interest

XA B AR

Interest of a controlled corporation
R

Interest of a controlled corporation®
Hiafa Ao

Beneficial owner®

5t Toral:

SHE: W A
Interest of a controlled corporation®
Hi AN

Beneficial owner®

5 Toral:

XA W

Interest of a controlled corporation

et i E g Wi e

Interest of a controlled corporation/Interest of spouse

Xy W

Interest of a controlled corporation

As at 30 June 2020, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief
executives of the Company in the shates, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)), as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)

set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:

AL
By A B E B AT RAHE 2
Bt 48 9 BEATE O
Approximate %
Aggregate number of interest in the
of shares or  issued share capital
underlying shares of the Company”
706,785,600 39.21%
706,785,600 39.21%
19,116,000 1.06%
725,901,600 40.27%
706,785,600 39.21%
19,116,000 1.06%
725,901,600 40.27%
80,268,950 4.45%
128,539,400 7.13%
86,118,950 4.77%
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(3)

)

)

(6

B F AR A = HARNF T T B SR
(£51,802,456,000 ) T3 FI A GHEAR A9 E 40 H o

FHEGLE - BMER L FHELERTHR
S A B SR A A e R LR R (T E
REKR) RN AR &M EEARARFAN
706,785,600 B B iy « TSR BB AERBU KL L+ A
KFE o LML R EHm e B e
WEBALHHRT -

JBC 53 T o T SR e A R T S R e A SR R R o

Tjie Tjin Fung J& 4= B A /Y B0 40 46 b Tjie 6 E
B H R IR BEA 1A vl B G BE A PR A R A 1
80,268,950 Ik 1 o

Suwita Janata JeE A I (i) F Suwita Janata
6 HE A WA AN ) A R AR N B IR AT PR 4
F# A 1780,268,950 BB A > B Gii)Julia Oscar %+ 4
B Y F A R K AR B R R A R R A Y
48,270,450 I Bt 44 © Suwita Janata 52 2 % Julia Oscar
LR K ESRESE A IR R o

Gunawan Kiky 56 & #E A 19 B 6 £2.48 () Gunawan &
EREFEEA K DT KRR A R AR A
180,268,950 & I 3 » T (ii) Gunawan 58 4 #7419
5,850,000 i e {4 -

Notes:

(1)

(2)

(3)

)

)

(6)

The total number of issued shares of the Company as at 30 June 2020 (that was,

1,802,456,000 shares) had been used for the calculation of the approximate percentage.

Shares owned by Mr. Wong Yam Yin, Ms. Hung So Ling, Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr.
Wong Kam Keung, Barry consist of 706,785,600 shares held by Golden Wheel Realty
Company Limited, a company controlled by Mr. Wong Yam Yin and his family (the “Wong
Family”). Mr. Wong Yam Yin and Ms. Hung So Ling are husband and wife. Mr. Wong
Kam Fai and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry are sons of Mr. Wong Yam Yin and Ms. Hung
So Ling.

Shares are jointly owned by Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry.

Shares owned by Mr. Tjie Tjin Fung consist of 80,268,950 shares held by Chun Hung

Investments Limited, a company owned by Mr. Tjie and his family.

Shares owned by Mr. Suwita Janata consist of (i) 80,268,950 shares held by Golden Era
Forever Holding Company Limited, a company wholly owned by Mr. Suwita Janata, and
(i1) 48,270,450 shares held by Golden Joy Forever Holding Company Limited, a company
wholly owned by Ms. Julia Oscar. Mr. Suwita Janata is the husband of Ms. Julia Oscar and a
brother-in-law of Mr. Wong Yam Yin.

Shares owned by Mr. Gunawan Kiky consist of (i) 80,268,950 shares held by Fire Spark
Holdings Limited, a company owned by Mr. Gunawan and his family, and (ii) 5,850,000
shares held by Mr. Gunawan.
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JA T — %
CiH SR

EREEY 2VE ERiac fia B 1 i BE A R HERE W H
Aggregate Amount of
amount of debentures

Currency of debentures in same class

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of Interest debentures bought in issue

EX7¢ ¢ XA B 4R 0 Rt 2,700,000 296,062,000

Wong Yam Yin Interest of a controlled corporation” USD

SRS W AR O ESTH 2,000,000 200,000,000
Interest of a controlled corporation™ USD
Hia AN ESH 3,000,000 200,000,000
Beneficial Owner® USD
A 7,700,000
Total:
T LB RO e 2,700,000 296,062,000
Wong Kam Fai Interest of a controlled corporation® USD
XYM RIT 2,000,000 200,000,000
Interest of a controlled corporation” USD
[t DN *it 3,000,000 200,000,000
Beneficial Owner” USD
it 7,700,000
Total:
Bl AR R AR O eV 2,700,000 296,062,000
Wong Kam Keung, Barry Interest of a controlled corporation™ USD
ZYEEERO e 2,000,000 200,000,000
Interest of a controlled corporation” [SN)Y)
gt XN ESTV 3,000,000 200,000,000
Beneficial Owner® USD
CEE 7,700,000
Total:
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JA T — %
CiH bR

EEEH B RS HEE R R R A AR A
Aggregate Amount of
amount of debentures

Currency of debentures in same class

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of Interest debentures bought in issue

Gunawan Kiky f- -t 2PN T 3,900,000 296,062,000

Beneficial owner USD
Hadf A eV 1,000,000 200,000,000
Beneficial owner USD
EE 4,900,000
Total:

L HadEf A eI 2,000,000 296,062,000

Lie Tak Sen Beneficial owner USD

YA EX DN S 400,000 296,062,000

Wong Ying Loi Beneficial owner usSD

FpE Notes:

) A B MER L+ FHELAER (1) These debentures are jointly owned by Mr. Wong Yam Yin, Ms. Hung So Ling, Mr. Wong

T tEwE > &8 A %#\22,700,000 Kam Fai and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry in a sum of USD2,700,000 and USD2,000,000
%98 T 2,000,000 3% 7T A 15 HE R8BS0 755 L Y respectively, which are held by Golden Wheel Realty Company Limited, a company
NE G BEGRATETE - controlled by the Wong Family.

Q@ W EREE R TR L MER L THE (2) These debentures are jointly owned by Mr. Wong Yam Yin, Ms. Hung So Ling, Mr. Wong
Jor B F 8RR oA SRS > %5355 3,000,000 Kam Fai and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry in a sum of USD3,000,000.
ESK

M e @EEAN > BEERGEH HE % Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 30 June
“EEANAZTH BEHEAAXNFREITEA 2020, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had registered an
BN A A R R R R W BRI 3521628 interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
FEC Bk o BCZEARIE b7 A A BBk 1 i g R e Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
7RI 55 47 50 G AR N 1) e A TR RS BT IR AR A 7] B the SFO) that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as
HAT AR E [ (2 25 R aE 5 W BRI 4 xv otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to
) By~ MBI B AR R S R A o the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.
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FEB R R A LR B RMBk  SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
By 0 B 2 PERSONS INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

WEZZZREANAZAH - RAR A B K As at 30 June 2020, the interests and/or short positions of the persons in the shares
R B A v B e B AR A A AR R 5 and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be
BBV EE 336 ML E 47 B I BT M SRS kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO or which would fall to
i 75 T2 A B A5 40 58 XV AR 2 B S 3 a0 T ) AR A be disclosed to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to
A A s s BT R AR SR A At Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO were as follows:

mr

A A ]
B A7y B A B AT B AKE 2
R A, W5 LA XA it A 4 8 BEATE O
Approximate
percentage of
Aggregate number interest in the
of shares or  issued share capital
Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of Interest underlying shares of the Company™
g A W 706,785,600 39.21%
Wong Yam Yin® Interest of a controlled corporation
iy Sl A W 706,785,600 39.21%
Hung So Ling? Interest of a controlled corporation
T S M SRS W 4 706,785,600 39.21%
Wong Kam Fai Interest of a controlled corporation®
Hea A Ao 19,116,000 1.06%
Beneficial owner®
AT Total: 725,901,600 40.27%
T4 SEHE: W 4 706,785,600 39.21%
Wong Kam Keung, Barry Interest of a controlled corporation”
Hea A Ao 19,116,000 1.06%
Beneficial owner®
AT Total: 725,901,600 40.27%
Suwita Janata® PR AR (B A 128,539,400 7.13%
Interest of a controlled corporation/Interest of spouse
Oscar Julia® P R RS (B AR 128,539,400 7.13%
Interest of a controlled corporation/Interest of spouse
EWERARAF A A 706,785,600 39.21%
Golden Wheel Realty Company Beneficial owner
Limited?®
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1

2)

3)

A

)

A

AR TREANH BN T T BT R A
(£51,802,456,000 ) T3 FI A 5HEAR &) E 40 H o

IO R L TR KT
T HEA I B 5 R R R AR Y 2 w4
B RN AR 11706,785,600 BB 1 o T KB
JeAE B R AR F o TR KT R
S EHB R ER T LM -

JBC153 ) Eh SRR A R T S R e A SR R B o

Suwita Janata ¢ A2 A 19 B4 BL 45 () B Suwita Janata
FEEEHA N AR SR AKERARARSE
980,268,950 Mt M 44 > K Gii)Julia Oscar % 1= 2> &
A B2 B G R K PR PR Rl R 9 48,270,450
JB AR © Suwita Janata 564 25 Julia Oscar 2 1 3L K
e E BB AEIIR K o

Julia Oscar 2 % A7 9 B 0 6.5 () 1 Julia Oscar &
LA A A ] R KB R A A
148,270,450 & I A% K (i) B Suwita Janata 6
REHEA A A B AR A PR R
80,268,950 & ik 111 Julia Oscar % 1 b Suwita Janata
FEAE I 2E T I F SR SR R IRk o

bR £ SCHT 808 5 b OB EE S R A
FHEANAZTH > BB A 7] S
B e v o AT AR A I S 0 R R 4 585 XV R 5F
2 ] 3 73 TR A SCOR 1) A% 2 v 48 83 ) R i R
T M N TR A R A R AT
T8 DR AR A 2w 8 A S T A ) AT o
Al 2 7 9 FBESROR € b B A A A PR AS T
5% B LA b WHESE o SO %S A O AR 1 9 S v
A T A

Notes:

(1)

(2)

(3)

)

)

The total number of issued shares of the Company as at 30 June 2020 (that was,

1,802,456,000 shares) had been used for the calculation of the approximate percentage.

Shares owned by Mr. Wong Yam Yin, Ms. Hung So Ling, Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr.
Wong Kam Keung, Barry consist of 706,785,600 shares held by Golden Wheel Realty
Company Limited, a company controlled by the Wong Family. Mr. Wong Yam Yin and
Ms. Hung So Ling are husband and wife. Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr. Wong Kam Keung,
Barry are sons of Mr. Wong Yam Yin and Ms. Hung So Ling.

Shares are jointly owned by Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry.

Shares owned by Mr. Suwita Janata consist of (i) 80,268,950 shares held by Golden Era
Forever Holding Company Limited, a company wholly owned by Mr. Suwita Janata, and
(i1) 48,270,450 shares held by Golden Joy Forever Holding Company Limited, a company
wholly owned by Ms. Julia Oscar. Mr. Suwita Janata is the husband of Ms. Julia Oscar and a
brother-in-law of Mr. Wong Yam Yin.

Shares owned by Ms. Julia Oscar consist of (i) 48,270,450 shares held by Golden Joy
Forever Holding Company Limited, a company wholly owned by Ms. Julia Oscar, and (ii)
80,268,950 shares held by Golden Era Forever Holding Company Limited, a company
wholly owned by Mr. Suwita Janata. Ms. Julia Oscar is the wife of Mr. Suwita Janata and

the younger sister of Mr. Wong Yam Yin.

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 30 June

2020,

no person had an interest or a short position in the shares or the underlying

shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under

the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of the Part XV of the SFO and no person was,

directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class

of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of

the Company, or of any other company which is a member of the Group, or in any

options in respect of such share capital.
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Ay w) EER A — SR ISR R ) (TRt )) - 1R
IR A URA H I & B2 B 5
i e B2 o w0 2 B L4 AR R BT AT 1 B
KEMEMESR (QFEUTES  FUTEFK
WA RRATER) KER - L RASE BT TR R
Zywl WAL Rk R o B R
B fens o LB RBEBHE - AEMREE
B A B s e o

AR AT A ARG HERER
FATHEMEET > RAMREE - F 2
ToATHIEHER—EAR

BEEZFENA=ZTHIEANEA > R
JROREAR S5 B2~ AT SR BRI -
F—NE+ A= —HER FFEANA
= FEBIIER R AT R £ 8,700,000
oA —F—WELHA -+ =H > RAFRA
EEAT EEEMA B KR BF 1545 8,700,000
AR - M S EH NS TREE
B R R R — s A S
AF VY AR o 51 i R 4 D R AR 4 1 3 4 B
BTRT N R HRRAR E—HELA
CHEARESFDNFELA R
I P 1 95 T AT B AT 08

T ETEAENA =+ R E A P
H > MR35 58 ol 52 000 A8 28 &) 4 4 30 5
171,300,000 i » AU A W B BT 9.5% »

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to
the success of the Group’s operations. The participants of the Scheme include any
Director (including executive Directors, non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors) and employees of any member of the Group and any
advisors, consultants, distributors, contractors, customers, suppliers, agents, business
partners, joint venture business partners and service providers of any member of the

Group.

The Scheme became effective on 10 December 2012 and unless otherwise cancelled

or amended, will remain in force for a period of 10 years to 10 December 2022.

During the six months ended 30 June 2020, no share options were granted,
exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Scheme. There were 8,700,000 share
options outstanding under the Scheme as at 31 December 2019 and as at 30 June
2020. These 8,700,000 share options were granted by the Company on 23 July
2014 to certain key management personnel and employees of the Group. With the
satisfaction of certain performance targets determined by the Directors, the share
options were vested to the grantors in four equal tranches upon the first, second,
third and fourth anniversary of the date of grant of options, and are exercisable by
the grantees during the period from 23 July 2015 to 22 July 2024 at the exetcise
price of HKD1 per share.

As at 30 June 2020 and the date of this interim report, the total number of shares
of the Company available for grant under the Scheme was 171,300,000 shares,

representing approximately 9.5% of the issued shates of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board and the management of the Company are committed to maintaining
high standards of corporate governance. The Board firmly believes that conducting
the Group’s business in a transparent and responsible manner and following good

corporate governance practices serve its long-term interests and those of shareholders.

During the six months ended 30 June 2020, the Company has complied with the
code provisions (the “Code Provision”) set out in the Corporate Governance Code
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules and most of the recommended best

practices contained therein.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the Company with
an aim to maintaining and improving a high standard of corporate governance

practices.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) with
specific terms of reference explaining its role and authorities delegated by the
Board. The Audit Committee currently consists of three independent non-executive
Directors: Mr. Li Sze Keung (Chairman), Mr. Lie Tak Sen and Mr. Wong Cho Kei,
Bonnie, who together have sufficient accounting and financial management expertise

and business experience to carry out their duties.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are: to review and supervise the
Company’s financial reporting process, half-yearly and annual results, risk
management and internal control systems, effectiveness of the internal audit function
performed by the internal audit department of the Group and provide advice and
comments to the Board. The Audit Committee meets with the external auditors

and the management of the Group to ensure that the audit findings are addressed

properly.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the unaudited interim condensed consolidated
financial statements for the six months ended 30 June 2020 and discussed with the
Company’s management regarding risk management, internal control and other

important matters.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) with specific terms of reference which deal clearly with its authorities
and duties. The Remuneration Committee currently consists of two independent
non-executive Directors and an executive Director: Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie
(Chairman), an independent non-executive Director, Mr. Wong Kam Fai, an

executive Director, and Mr. Lie Tak Sen, an independent non-executive Director.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are: to make recommendations
to the Directors on the Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration of
the Directors and senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing policies on such remuneration; to assess the
performance of each executive Director; to recommend to the Board on the terms of
the specific remuneration package of each executive Director and senior management
(adopted the approach under Code Provision B.1.2(c)(ii)); and to review and approve
performance-based remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives

resolved by the Directors from time to time.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) with specific terms of reference explaining its role and authorities
delegated by the Board. The Nomination Committee currently consists of two
independent non-executive Directors and an executive Director: Mr. Wong Yam
Yin (Chairman), an executive Director, Mr. Wong Ying Loi, an independent non-

executive Director, and Mr. Li Sze Keung, an independent non-executive Director.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are: to review the structure, size
and composition of the Board on a regular basis; to make recommendations to the
Board regarding any proposed changes; to identify, select or make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships; to assess
the independence of the independent non-executive Directors; and to make
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment or

re-appointment of directors and succession planning for Directors.

A Director appointed by the Board is subject to election by shareholders at the
first annual general meeting after his appointment in case of the appointment of an
additional Director or at the first general meeting after his appointment in case of

filling of casual vacancy.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The management of the Company has proactively taken and will continue to
take the following measures to ensure effective shareholders’ communication and
transparency: a) maintain frequent contacts with shareholders and investors through
various channels such as meetings, telephone and emails; b) regularly update the
Company’s news and developments through the investor relations section of the
Company’s website; and ¢) arrange on-site visits to the Group’s projects for potential

investors and research analysts.

Through the above measures, the Company endeavors to communicate with the
investment community and provide them with the latest development of the Group
and the PRC real estate industry. The Company discloses information in compliance
with the Listing Rules, and publishes periodic reports and announcements to the
public in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations. The primary focus of
the Company is to ensure information disclosure is timely, fair, accurate, truthful
and complete, thereby enabling shareholders, investors as well as the public to make

rational and informed decisions.

In addition, shareholders and investors are welcome to write their enquires directly
to the Board a) by mail to the Company’s principal place of business, b) by fax on
(852) 2566 3070 or ¢) by email at IR@gwtd.com.hk.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules as its code for securities transactions by the Directors. The Company has made
specific enquiries with all the Directors and all of them have confirmed that they
have complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code during the

period under review.
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ISSUANCE OF SENIOR NOTES

On 6 January 2020, the Company offered to issue senior notes in an aggregate
principal amount of USD200 million with a coupon rate of 12.95% per annum
(the “USD 2022 Notes”). The USD 2022 Notes are denominated in United States
dollars and listed on the Stock Exchange and the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited (the “Singapore Exchange”) on 15 January 2020. The USD 2022
Notes carry interest at a coupon rate of 12.95% per annum, payable semi-annually
in arrears, and will mature on 14 March 2022. The purpose of the issue of the
USD 2022 Notes is to refinance the existing indebtedness of the Group, including
payment in connection with the repurchase of part of the USD 2021 Notes (as
defined under the section headed “Purchase, sale or redemption of listed securities of
the Company” below) on 17 January 2020, 23 March 2020 and 17 June 2020.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

With respect to the senior notes in the principal amount of USD400 million with a
coupon rate of 7% per annum and due in January 2021 (the “USD 2021 Notes”),
the Company repurchased and cancelled part of the USD 2021 Notes in the
aggregate principal amount of USD43,353,000 on 17 January 2020 by a tender offer
commenced on 6 January 2020. From March to April 2020, the Company further
repurchased an aggregate principal amount of USD43,085,000 and USD17,500,000
of the USD 2021 Notes, and all the repurchased notes were cancelled on 23 March
2020 and 17 June 2020 respectively. After the above-mentioned cancellations, the
aggregate principal amount of the USD 2021 Notes which remained outstanding
and subject to the terms of the indenture governing the USD 2021 Notes is
USD296,062,000 as at 17 June 2020.

Save as disclosed above, there was no purchase, sale or redemption of any of the
Company'’s listed securities by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the six
months ended 30 June 2020.
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EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 9 July 2020, the Company issued senior notes in an aggregate principal
amount of USD170 million with a coupon rate of 14.25% per annum (the
“USD 2023 Notes”). The USD 2023 Notes are denominated in United States
dollars and listed on the Singapore Exchange on 13 July 2020. The USD
2023 Notes carry interest at a coupon rate of 14.25% per annum, payable
semi-annually in arrears, and will mature on 9 January 2023. The purpose of
the issue of the USD 2023 Notes is to refinance the existing indebtedness of
the Group, including payment in connection with the repurchase of part of
the USD 2021 Notes on 13 July 2020 as described below.

On 13 July 2020, the Company, through a tender offer, successfully
repurchased part of the USD 2021 Notes in an aggregate principal amount
of USD119,992,000. After the cancellation of the repurchased USD 2021
Notes on 13 July 2020, the aggregate principal amount of the USD 2021
Notes which remained outstanding and subject to the terms of the indenture
governing the USD 2021 Notes is USD176,070,000 as at 13 July 2020.
Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 29 June 2020, 30
June 2020, 10 July 2020 and 14 July 2020

On 20 August 2020, the Company further repurchased and cancelled part of
the USD 2021 Notes in an aggregate principal amount of USD20,000,000.
As at 20 August 2020, the outstanding principal amount of the USD 2021
Notes was USD156,070,000. Please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 21 August 2020.

On 14 July 2020, the Group subscribed for 20,000,000 shares of Ganglong
China Property Group Limited at the subscription price of HK$3.93
per share in its global offering for the purpose of listing on the Stock
Exchange. The total consideration paid by the Company is approximately
HK$79,393,000. Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 3
July 2020 and 14 July 2020 for further details.
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HHROEHRRNEE_FZ_ZFEASA=ZTHIEAS The Board resolved not to declare any interim dividend for the six months ended 30
8 7 A B IR AT o] ep IR, o June 2020.

REFGW By order of the Board
EhE Wong Yam Yin

i Chairman

s ZEZRFENH =+ NH Hong Kong, 28 August 2020
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Review report to the board of directors of
Golden Wheel Tiandi Holdings Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

INTRODUCTION

We have reviewed the interim financial report set out on pages 36 to 76 which
comprises the consolidated statement of financial position of Golden Wheel Tiandi
Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) as of 30 June 2020 and the related
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and
statement of changes in equity and condensed consolidated cash flow statement for
the six month period then ended and explanatory notes. The Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited require the
preparation of an interim financial report to be in compliance with the relevant
provisions thereof and International Accounting Standard 34, Interim financial
reporting, issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. The directors
are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the interim financial report in

accordance with International Accounting Standard 34.

Our responsibility is to form a conclusion, based on our review, on the interim
financial report and to report our conclusion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this

report.

34 £l K i ¥ Bt A B A 5 GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
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Report on Review of Consolidated Financial Statements

SCOPE OF REVIEW

We conducted our review in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Review
Engagements 2410, Review of interim financial information performed by the
independent auditor of the entity, issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). A review of the interim financial report consists
of making enquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and accounting
matters, and applying analytical and other review procedures. A review is
substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that
we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in an

audit. Accordingly we do not express an audit opinion.

CONCLUSION

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe
that the interim financial report as at 30 June 2020 is not prepared, in all material
respects, in accordance with International Accounting Standard 34, Interim financial

reporting.

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

28 August 2020
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Revenue

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Changes in fair value of investment properties
Other income, expense, gains and losses
Selling and marketing expenses

Administrative expenses

(Loss)/profit from operations
Finance costs

Share of profits of associates

Share of (losses)/profits of joint ventures

(Loss)/profit before taxation

Income tax

(Loss)/profit for the period

Attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the Company

Non-controlling interest

(Loss)/profit for the period

(Loss)/earnings per share

Basic (RMB per share)

Diluted (RMB per share)

BWEAH=ZTHIEAMA

Six months ended 30 June

I
2020 2019

Wik AREFT  ARKTE
NOTE RMB’000 RMB’000
3 438,292 561,190
(310,610) (287,467)

127,682 273,723

7(c) (59,424) 155,114
4(b) 15,890 8,539
(25,104) (23,797)

(78,769) (85,061)

(19,725) 328,518

4(a) (105,704) (74,067)
22,235 109,809

(1,993) 8,200

4 (105,187) 372,460

5 (34,692) (139,715)
(139,879) 232,745

(151,842) 232,745

11,963 -

(139,879) 232,745

(0.084) 0.129

(0.084) 0.129

The notes on pages 44 to 76 form part of this interim financial report.
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NOTE

Other comprehensive income for the
period (after tax and reclassification

adjustments):

Item that may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translation of financial
statements of the entities with functional

currencies other than RMB

Other comprehensive income for the period

Total comprehensive income for the period

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company

Non-controlling interest

Total comprehensive income for the period

A A i A S At 2 B

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

BWEAH=ZTHIEAMA

Six months ended 30 June

S
2020
ARMFT
RMB’000

(718)

(718)

(140,597)

(152,560)
11,963

(140,597)

“EAE
2019
ARMET
RMB000

(2,803)

(2,803)

229,942

229,942

229,942

The notes on pages 44 to 76 form part of this interim financial report. Details of

dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company are set out in note 14.
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Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Interests in associates

Interests in joint ventures
Other financial assets
Restricted bank deposits

Deferred tax assets

Current assets

Properties under development for sale
Completed properties for sale

Contract costs

Trade and other receivables

Land appreciation tax and income tax prepaid
Other financial assets

Restricted bank deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables
Contract liabilities

Rental received in advance
Lease liabilities

Bank loans

Current taxation

Senior notes

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

£l K i ¥ Bt A B A 5 GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

B 51
NOTE

10

11

12

13

— R
AR=Z1H
30 June

2020

AR T
RMB’000

239,346
6,457,651
509,234
417,238
226,310
181,010
169,344

8,200,133

6,390,841
885,118
9,714
315,881
48,653
2,667
342,665
804,023

8,799,562

1,990,569
1,435,741
17,969
39,067
2,321,741
633,633
2,215,294

8,654,014

145,548

8,345,681

e
+ZHA=Z+—H
31 December
2019

AR T
RMB’000

260,699
6,258,897
468,999
419,231
221,667
170,000
154,324

7,953,817

5,157,894
1,145,750
6,473
348,773
28,075
5,525
604,359
979,208

8,276,057

1,808,858
971,179
31,342
43,298
2,393,017
683,578
185,149

6,116,421

2,159,636

10,113,453
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RO R
AH=Z+H +-H=1+—H
30 June 31 December
2020 2019
fft 5 AR ARWETFIC
NOTE RMB000 RMB'000
FE B £1 45 Non-current liabilities
HEAE Lease liabilities 236,997 249,169
AT R Bank loans 12 969,267 1,348,776
EILHIH A R Deferred tax liabilities 1,182,823 1,180,961
T 5 Rental received in advance 4,357 2,549
B Senior notes 13 1,224,396 2,501,362
3,617,840 5,282,817
W NET ASSETS 4,727,841 4,830,636
B A I fit CAPITAL AND RESERVES
A Shate capital 14(a) 113,099 113,099
it i Reserves 4,525,340 4,704,098
K2 ) RE 45 JB SR E AW A RE 5 Total equity attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company 4,638,439 4,817,197
b IR hE 25 Non-controlling interests 89,402 13,439
BRERS TOTAL EQUITY 4,727,841 4,830,636

MERGH FFF N A/ H HOHE Rz Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 August 2020.
METIEE -

FoE F o
Wong Yam Yin Wong Kam Fai
#HH #HH
Directors Directors

5544 5 76 E 2 W RE A LA oh ) B S o 2 — The notes on pages 44 to 76 form part of this interim financial report.

o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

f?kiii\iz\ﬁ:f\}] S H kS E A ( T\Q;ﬁﬂ“//\) For the six months ended 30 June 2020 (unaudited)
(LA RS 7 ) (Expressed in Renminbi)

KLAEERRE
Actrbutable o equity shareholdersof the Company

Bk RER  BARE  EAGR DREGEE  WRERE  DRRR  REEA B FERER it

Property Share Nor-
Share Share Specal Exchange evaluation options Surplus Retained controlling
apial premium feserve feserve feserve feserve feserve carnings Toul ntetests Toul
it ARETE  ARETL  ARETL ARETL ARETL  ARETL AREFL  ARFFC ARETC  ARETLC ARET0
NOTE RMB 00 RMBUD RMBUD RMBUD RMBUD RMBUD RMBUD RMBUW RMBOW RMBO0 RMB O
R MEA-H Baanceat 1 January 2019 AET (AT R /A 30 16631 W B 3ET A -
REZZ A= Changes in equiy for the ix
IERBABERZS:  monhs ended 30 June 2019
il Profitfor the period . - - - - - - B B . B
LR Other comprehensive income
for the period - - - (2809 - - - - (2803) - (2803
et Total comprehensive income - - - (2803) - - - JAINDS 209942 - 209,942
BbRfE S Surplus reserve appropriation - - - - - - 14465 (14,465) - - -
FERERZRA Dividends declared n respectof the
previous year 14(b) - - (30,120) - - - - - (30,120) - (30,120)
IR B AT Bouity el shre-based ranacions 140 - - - - - 114 - - 114 - 114
REZ-MERRZFH Balanceat 30 June 2019
ik By 614 145,98 (2453 1661 [ OV T N X151 B 31 - ATss
RECEMETZR  Changesinequityfor the six
St=HEAEAS  monthsended 31 December
vtk 015,
il Proficforthe peiod - - - - - - - 19816 19816 63) 19783
B AELE Other comprehensive income
for the period - - - 17438 - - - - 17438 - 17438
et Total comprehensive income - - - 174%8 - - - 19816 37,054 (33) 311
BhRER Surplus eserve appropriation - - - - - - 10,788 (10,788) - - -
AR 22 B 1 072 5 Bty sl sharebused ransactions 140 - - - - - 115 - - 11 - 115
FERRREE Capital injction from non-controling
shareholders = = = = - - - - - 13472 13472
REB-AEET Balance at 31 December 2019
ZRE- R By 61 145,98 14985 1661 7B N N V'O B L AT B 460

40 £l K i ¥ Bt A B A 5 GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

RATERRREN
Atributable to equity shareholders of the Company

Wk MR WERE  ERRE WFEGRE  WRERE  EERE  RERA Bt hERES it

Property Share Non-
Share Share Special Exchange  revaluation options Surplus Retained controlling
capital premium feserve feserve feserve feserve eserve earnings Total nterests Total
Wi ARKEE ARETT ARRTE ARETE ARETE ARETT ARKTT ARETE ARETE ARETE ARETE
NOTE RiBY0 RyBU0 RMBU0 RMBU0 RMBUD RMBUO RMBU0 RMBU0 RuBUD RuBU0w RiBI0
(notel4(w)  (noteld(b)i)) (note14)
(Hit1d) (Rt 1) it
REFZRE-A=H  Balanceat | January 2020
i3 I 8 5% 1498 16631 (53 (37 T X R A 349 4806
BEZRZBEANZTH Changes in equiy for the six
EAEABERSER:  monchsended 30 une 2000
il Loss fr th period . . . . . . - (I 5180 1965 (139879
AR TR Other comprehensive income
for the period - - - (718) - - - - (718) - (718)
AT Totl comprehensive income - - - 718) - - - (BI85 11963 (140397)
RiRfes Surplusreserve appropriaion - - - - - - 24868 (24868) - - -
FECERZRE Dividends declared n respectof the
previous year 14() - - (26313) - - - - - (26313) - (26313)
DRSS B 5 0785 Bauity el shre-asd tranacions 140 o ° S = - 115 - - 115 - 115
HERRREE Capital injection from non-controling
sharcholders - - - - - - - - - 04,000 64,000
REZZRERNZTH Balanceat 30 June 2020
fsetk 161 o AV R | 1 14267 16631 LA IS 3T85B 464 Wi s

55447 76 H 2 W EERE LA b B RS I 2 — B The notes on pages 44 to 76 form part of this interim financial report.
5}’ o
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B 0 T (E AT IR 4 1 4

PEHZ R 8147 775K
732 R 8 AT A7 3K
LIS AL SRAT 773K
TN SRR SRAT A7 3K
f] — i1 & 4 S 2 R B K

L WY — [T BB A 2 )R K

REGFEH A () Bl H

Operating activities

Cash used in operations

Tax paid

Net cash used in operating activities

Investing activities

Interest received from bank deposits
Interest received from financial assets
measured at fair value through profit ot
loss (“FVTPL”)
Dividends received from financial assets
measured at FVTPL
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of financial assets measured at FVITPL
Purchase of investment properties
Investment in a joint venture
Disposal of investment properties
Disposal of financial assets measured at FVTPL
Withdrawal of restricted bank deposits
Placements of restricted bank deposits
Withdrawal of structured bank deposits
Placements of structured bank deposits
Advance to a joint venture

Repayment received from an associate

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing

activities

42 £l K i ¥ Bt A B A 5 GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

BWEAH=ZTHIEAMA

Six months ended 30 June

S

2020
Wi ARKETT
NOTE RMB’000

(96,428)
(115,536)

(211,964)

26,037

895

(7,937)
(34,682)
(247,075)
(7,200)
5,576
39,261
362,069
(111,387)

(1,624)
13,994

37,927

“EAE
2019
ARMET
RMB000

(82,201)
(26,768)

(108,969)

10,601

1,528

20
(25,481)

(70,758)
32,769
97,821

597,490

(1,295,500)
232,000
(128,000)
(27,359)

(574,869)



s ABaRER
Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow

BWEAH=ZTHIEAMA

Six months ended 30 June

“ERCRE —F—NUE
2020 2019
Bif AR¥F7 ANRBT T
NOTE RMB’000 RMB000
il 5 3 ) Financing activities
B E N e — A E AR Advance from associates and a joint venture
K 36,849 97,371
) — [ A F A e Repayment to an associate and joint ventures
2 3K (48,350) (17,021)
BT 50 S T 15 3RO Proceeds from issue of senior notes 1,393,565 957,338
SRR AT 1 S AR A B S Payment of expense attributable to issue of
senior notes (17,514) (16,100)
AT BCERAT A8 SRR A BH 52 Payment of expense attributable to bank
borrowings = (2,788)
B ERAT New bank borrowings raised 175,402 1,167,063
DHBR AT E Capital injection form minority shareholder 64,000 -
B 1R SRAT R K Repayments of bank borrowings (678,869) (394,650)
I [0 4 S 2R Repurchase of senior notes (709,053) (979,127)
EATALE Interest paid (172,700) (143,276)
L A5F A 2w RE 4 A SR A B Dividends paid to equity shareholders
of the Company (26,313) (30,120)
B S 4 EAR T Capital element of lease rentals paid (10,165) (11,980)
B AL & L 4 A BB A Interest element of lease rentals paid (8,770) (9,040)
g EE () / PB4 Net cash (used in)/generated from financing
activities (1,918) 617,670
Bl KBl & S EM A T Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (175,955) (66,168)
H—H—HWMBE&ERIESFHEY Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 979,208 576,051
M A% ) 2 7Y Effect of foreign exchanges rates changes 770 46,428
RARAZTHWHBERBESMEY  Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 10 804,023 556,311

F44FE 76 EH 2 MR RE A TP B BB IS 2 — 3 The notes on pages 44 to 76 form part of this interim financial report.
7%
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GENERAL AND BASIS OF PREPARATION

Golden Wheel Tiandi Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted Company with limited liability in the Cayman
Islands on 26 April 2012 and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”) with effect from
16 January 2013.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and
its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
principally engaged in the property development, property leasing and hotel

operation.

The condensed consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”), the currency of the primary economic environment in which
the principal subsidiaries of the Company operate (same as the functional

currency of the Company).

This interim financial report of the Group has been prepared in accordance
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, including
compliance with International Accounting Standard (IAS) 34, Interim
financial reporting, issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB). It was authorised for issue on 28 August 2020.

The interim financial report has been prepared in accordance with the same
accounting policies adopted in the 2019 annual financial statements, except
for the accounting policy changes that are expected to be reflected in the
2020 annual financial statements. Details of any changes in accounting

policies are set out in note 2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

The preparation of an interim financial report in conformity with IAS 34
requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities,
income and expenses on a petiod to date basis. Actual results may differ from

these estimates.

This interim financial report contains consolidated financial statements
and selected explanatory notes. The notes include an explanation of events
and transactions that are significant to an understanding of the changes
in financial position and performance of the Group since the 2019 annual
financial statements. The condensed consolidated interim financial statements
and notes thereon do not include all of the information required for a full set

of financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRSs.

The interim financial repott is unaudited, but has been reviewed by KPMG
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Review Engagements 2410,
Review of interim financial information performed by the independent
auditor of the entity, issued by the HKICPA. KPMG's independent review

report to the Board of Directors is included on page 34 to 35.
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Group has applied the following amendments to IFRSs issued by the

IASB to these financial statements for the current accounting period:

. Amendments to IFRS 3, Definition of a Business

o Amendment to IFRS 16, Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

Amendments to IFRS 3, Definition of a Business does not a material effect on
how the Group’s results and financial position for the current or prior periods
have been prepared or presented in this interim financial report. The Group
has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective
for the current accounting period except for the amendment to IFRS 16,
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions, which provides a practical expedient
that allows lessees not to assess whether particular rent concessions occurring
as a direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic are lease modifications
and, instead, account for those rent concessions as if they were not lease
modifications. Impacts of the adoption of the amended IFRSs are discussed

below:

The amendment provides a practical expedient that allows a lessee to by-pass
the need to evaluate whether certain qualifying rent concessions occurring
as a direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic (“Covid-19-related rent
concessions”) are lease modifications and, instead, account for those rent

concessions as if they were not lease modifications.

The Group has elected to early adopt the amendments and applies the
practical expedient to all qualifying Covid-19-related rent concessions
granted to the group during the interim reporting period. Consequently,
rent concessions received have been accounted for as negative variable lease
payments recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers those payments occurred (see Note 7(a)). There is no

impact on the opening balance of equity at 1 January 2020.

46 £l K i ¥ Bt A B A 5 GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED



Ao B S R A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

etk B 23 A 3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

AL 2 T BEER A S R PR B e The principal activities of the Group are property development, property

SETHE DA SO 5 B R o 2 IR IR 4 i K leasing and hotel operation. In a manner consistent with the way in which

FBLRRA ) A 42 1 e e AT U HL R R RE information is reported internally to the Group’s most senior executive

R 73X > AR 0 R A = 480 1 management for the purposes of resource allocation and performance

AT RS o assessment, the Group has identified three operating and reportable segments.
He SEH BN & P 3 E 4 1 Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by business
EE AT lines and geographical location of customers is as follows:

BEAA=Z+THIEAMA

Six months ended 30 June

—®=FE
2020 2019
ANRWET T ANRHT T
RMB’000 RMB'000
75 b E B 5% Property development 336,758 422,191
PIEME Property leasing 89,420 109,035
T )5 5 Hotel operation 12,114 29,964
Wi s A% Total revenue 438,292 561,190
e B LA B Disaggregated by geographical location of customers
B K Mainland China 438,292 548,433
T Hong Kong - 12,757
438,292 561,190
FiC HE RR N A IR B 4R 2 B P B AR Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by the
g 17 B 3 () 7R o timing of revenue recognition is disclosed in note 3(b).
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3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by timing
of revenue recognition, as well as information regarding the Group’s
reportable segments as provided to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment
of segment performance for the period is set out below. No segment
assets and liabilities are presented as they were not regularly provided
to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource

allocation and performance assessment.

SR hEHE HkRE it

Property development Property leasing Hotel operation Total
== M ST = T ST = T ST = T S
REAWA L 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
For the six months ended ARBTE AEEFT ARBTE AREFL ARBTE AREFT ARKFZ AREFT
RMB000 RMB OO RMB000 RMBU0OO RMB00 RMBO0O RMB000 RMBO0O

HHAREIE  Disaggregated by

g timing of revenue
recognition
I i 2 Point in time 336,758
il Over time -

WERAHUE  Reportable segment
revenue 336,758

i 2R/ Reportable segment
(E#) profit/(lss) 5,996

2,91 89,420 109,035 - - 426,178 531,226
. - . 12,114 29,964 12,114 29964

22,191 89420 109,035 12,114 0964 43892 561,190

129,209 37,400 48,668 (7,101) 4409 36,295 182,286
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3 WK BATBWE ) 3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

WEAH=Z1THIEAMEA

Six months ended 30 June

“ERORE “E N

2020 2019

ARWF ARWT T

RMB’000 RMB’000

] 2 R 7 i Reportable segment profit 36,295 182,286
BEWERNTEEH Changes in fair value of investment properties (59,424) 155,114
HAb A ~ BA X~ st Mg R Other income, expense, gains and losses 15,890 8,539
e e 4858 K28 A B 3 Unallocated head office and corporate expenses (12,486) (17,421)
Al A Finance costs (105,704) (74,067)
o A T A ) 1) ek Share of profits of associates 22,235 109,809
IEAEAEN (EER) %A Share of (losses)/profits of joint ventures (1,993) 8,200
LEABBLET (Bs1E) /i F Consolidated (loss)/profit before taxation (105,187) 372,460
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4 (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

(Loss)/profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

WEAH=ZTHIEAMA

Six months ended 30 June

— EE — = 413
2020
AR T
RMB’000
Finance costs
Interest on bank loans 108,222
Interest on lease liabilities 8,770
Interest on senior notes 192,919
Less: Interest expense capitalised into
properties under development for
sale and investment properties
under development (204,207)
Total finance costs 105,704

5 O £l K i ¥ Bt A B A 5 GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

e
2019
ARKTT
RMB000

58,904
9,040
150,361

(144,238)

74,067
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4 (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)

Other income, expense, gains and losses
Dividend and interest income
Government grant
Compensation income from early
termination of leasing contract
Net foreign exchange losses
Changes in fair value of financial assets
at FVTPL
Gain on disposal of financial assets
at FVTPL
Gain/(loss) from repurchases of senior notes
Donation
Others

Total

Other items
Cost of properties sold
Cost of rental income
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Impairment loss recognised in respect of

investments in debt instruments

BEAH=ZFTHIEAMA

Six months ended 30 June

“RnRs
2020
ARMFT
RMB’000

33,198

798

3,173
(47,206)

5,948
1,662
19,533

1)
(1,125)

15,890

287,470
11,114

10,729

1,517

“ERE
2019
AR
RMB 000

18,095

419

2,233
(12,397)

20,284
3,548
(18,109)

(10,000)
4,466

8,539

261,913
9,688

9,775

1,360
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i 5 B 5  INCOME TAX
BEAH=ZTHIEAMEA
Six months ended 30 June
e Jme 22 “E-LE
2020 2019
ABRH T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB'000
B S0 T — 7 s A A Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax - 875
B 0 v e AR AE A Current tax — People’s Republic of China (‘PRC”)
(T ) 2R s corporate income tax (“CIT”)
(T3P F3 L)) 17,313 28,639
Bl T — £ b s (G Current tax — Land appreciation tax (‘LAT”)
(IS A ]) 30,537 32,806
HEAE B IH Deferred taxation (13,158) 77,395
34,692 139,715

A 709 1 S0 T 1 B2 I B S D O R
S5 g ML 2 O ) SRR AR A B > il
7 40 9 % 5 O ) e AT (T B T AR A o

WMEEZFFEAA=ZTHIEAEA &
Vs A5 B 5 PR PR A AR E PR R R
16.5% (—F—JU4F 1 165%) 7t E - REF
BELW RN > & G EE TR 25%
Z B AR R 2 E s T (VI8 ) S
BLIE > Mt 4 16.5% 2 Bl R BN 2 H H
JCLA b R 2 BEIE o ARAF AR5 i 4
F 5 o) B S ) A A 1659 Y
9 — BB o

] 41 S T A5 58 9 4 ) DU S0 72 v B A
A 8 2~ ] B A R A SE BT B R B % - A
BRI 0 25 7 432 1R v A B 5 A B B i AR T
i E

No provision for taxation has been recognised for companies incorporated in
the Cayman Island and the British Virgin Islands as they are not subject to

any tax during both periods.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated by applying the
estimated annual effective tax rate of 16.5% (2019: 16.5%) to the six months
ended 30 June 2020. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first
Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$”) 2 million of profits of the qualifying group
entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed
at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered

profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The provision for PRC income tax is based on the respective corporate income
tax rates applicable to the subsidiaries located in the PRC as determined in

accordance with the relevant income tax rules and regulations of the PRC.
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o e B A 8 ) AR A s DR 4
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FZE-NEASA=THIEAM
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INCOME TAX (Continued)

The LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from the sale of properties less
deductible expenditures including payments made for acquisition of land use
rights, costs and expenses for the development of the land or for construction
of new buildings and supporting facilities, or the assessed value for old
buildings and structures, tax payable relating to transfer of the real estate
and other deductible items prescribed by the Ministry of Finance. Apart
from the aforementioned deductions, property developers enjoy an additional
deduction, which is equal to 20% of the payment made for acquisition of
land use rights and the costs of land development and construction of new

buildings or related facilities.

EARNINGS PER SHARES

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the
loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of
RMB151,842,000 (six months ended 30 June 2019: profit of
RMB232,745,000) and the weighted average of 1,802,456,000
ordinary shares (2019: 1,802,456,000 shares) in issue during the

interim period.

The computation of diluted earnings per share does not assume the
exercise of the Company’s outstanding share options because the
exercise price of those options was higher than the average market
price for shares for both reporting periods. Accordingly, the diluted
earnings per share was same as the basic earnings per share for both

periods.
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7. BREVERMYE - BFEXFE 7 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER

] PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
FEEG L ZHME & DES The Group entered into a number of lease agreements for use of metro
i S8R G i ) (8 R leasing and hotels.
PEEFEZFEAAZTHIEA During the six months ended 30 June 2020, the Group received
A > 78 B Covid-19 B 17 15 i rent concessions in the form of a discount on fixed payments during
PRI e T I W % 7B R o i the period of severe social distancing and travel restriction measures
AT > A SR B DL T S8 A5 3K R TP introduced to contain the spread of Covid-19. The amount of fixed and
2R AL 46 B8 o o 0 i 0 T Y variable lease payments for the interim reporting period is summarised
[ 52 B T 428 FEL B A5 A 1Y 4 % 40K 2 A below:
T

BEZZREAA=THIEAMA
Six months ended 30 June 2020

B Covid-19
HH B B
1] 5 1 K EEZ0F S FHL 4 99 5 ek
Fixed Variable Covid-19 rent Total
payments payments concessions payments
ARBFI ARBF ARHF ANRBFI
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
W8 Metro leasing 17,682 = (5,545) 12,137
4 15 Hotels 2,959 - (986) 1,973

BEZF-NEAA=ZTHIEAREA
Six months ended 30 June 2019
Bl Covid-19

HAEA A
MEfd WEME% O BeWE (R4
Fixed Variable Covid-19 rent Total
payments payments concessions payments
ANR¥TT ANR¥TT AR T ARE T
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
g Metro leasing 20,095 - - 20,095
I Hotels 2,845 - - 2,845
SRR RE2 BT R > AEEE R As disclosed in note 2, the Group has early adopted the Amendment to
R A 20 % B s A YR VB 16 AR IFRS 16, Leases, Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions, and has applied
B Covid-19 A B 19 #H £ 38 % 19 & 5T the practical expedient introduced by the Amendment to all eligible
A% 37 B LA 4 B R A I B i rent concessions received by the Group during the period.
A o e e 2 AT AR A
NGLIESE: ¥R
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7. BEWERIMWE > B 7 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER
) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Concinued)

REEZF-FENA=THIEA
A > AL B LA AR ¥ 7,937,000
To (MR ZFE—JEASAZTHIEA
i A+ AR #25,481,000 7C) 4 1 ik
FoMERZHEE - REE_-F
ZEEANAZTHIEAEALEE
“E-NEASA=ZFTHIEANAA
R VR E V&

BATEIRFERSRAZE
WER T EMFZAEE R F
CEENA=ZTHHAEBRZ BT
A (L B 5B > 5 ) 2 A 7l B 5%
g s — & —JuE+ A fhE
IR T B & AR o

MR ZE M > BN & ER
18 4 BlE B2 1R BN R 59,424,000
T F— U AR
155,114,000 7G) J FL AR A 0 A R
14,856,000 76 (=& — JL4F « AR
38,778,000 JG) ©

During the six months ended 30 June 2020, the Group acquired items
of plant, property and equipment with a cost of RMB7,937,000 (six
months ended 30 June 2019: RMB25,481,000). No plant, property
and equipment were disposed of during the six months ended 30 June

2020 and six months ended 30 June 2019.

The valuations of investment properties and land and buildings held
for rental income carried at fair value were updated at 30 June 2020 by
the Group’s independent valuer using the same valuation techniques
as were used by this valuer when carrying out the December 2019

valuations.

As a result of the update, a net loss of RMB59,424,000 (2019:
net gain of RMB155,114,000), and the deferred tax thereon of
RMB14,856,000 (2019: RMB38,778,000), have been recognised in

profit or loss for the period in respect of investment properties.
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8 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets

Financial assets measured at FVTPL
— Held-for-trading

— Unlisted equity securities

— Others

Financial assets measured at FVTOCI

Total

Less: Amounts due within one year shown under

current assets

Amounts shown under non-current assets

5 6 £l K i ¥ Bt A B A 5 GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

REFZFH A ZF— A
ARSTR FoA=—H
At 30 June At 31 December

2020 2019
AR T AR BT
RMB’000 RMB'000
2,667 5,525
209,092 203,144
10,972 10,760

6,246 7,763
228,977 227,192
(2,667) (5,525)
226,310 221,667
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9 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

a discretions basis.

Trade receivables mainly comprises certain consideration for sale of properties

and rental receivable in respect of self-owned investment properties and sub-

accordance with the terms of related sale and purchase agreements. Rentals
are usually received in advance. Rental receivables are normally due within

30 days. However, longer credit periods might grant to certain customers on

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade receivables

net of allowance for credit losses presented based on the date of delivery of

properties/date of rendering of services, is as follows:

Within 1 year

Trade receivables, net of loss allowance
Amount due from associates and joint ventures

Other debtors

Less: Allowance for credit losses

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

Advances to contractors

Other taxes prepaid

REFZF4E A ZE— LA
AR=Z+H  +ZA=+—H
At 30 June At 31 December

2020 2019
AR T NRBFor
RMB 000 RMB000
133,486 169,141
133,486 169,141
32,695 45,065
105,207 94,852
(27,714) (27,714)
243,674 281,344
28,604 19,933
43,603 47,496
315,881 348,773
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FHBRE
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60 KLLA
61 £180°K
181 £365 K
1L B

A B K I B A+ SR A A

Al 8 A°F MR 3K I T 22 )
HEE A5 7 1 3 B W A R 3KOR

TS A R Y B A R

10 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash in hand
Cash at bank

Total

RFFE
AA=Z1H
At 30 June
2020
ANRWT 70
RMB’000

1,627
802,396

804,023

11 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

the invoice date, is as follows:

Within 60 days
61 to 180 days
181 to 365 days
Over 1 year

Total creditors and bills payable

Other creditors and accrued charges

Amounts due to joint ventures and associates

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

5 8 £l K i ¥ Bt A B A 5 GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

RFFE
AA=Z1H
At 30 June
2020
AR
RMB’000

1,026,117
24,201

17,091
39,305

1,106,714

545,597
338,258

1,990,569

i
+ZA=+—H
At 31 December
2019
ARWFT T
RMB’000

1,068
978,140

979,208

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade creditors

and bills payables (which are included in trade and other payables), based on

/I S 2
+ZA=+—H
At 31 December
2019
ARWFT T
RMB’000

810,580
13,287

22,714
39,797

886,378

483,621
438,859

1,808,858
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12 BANK LOANS

Secured

Unsecured

Total

Carrying amount repayable based on repayment
terms:
— Within 1 year or on demand
— After 1 year but within 2 years

— After 2 years but within 5 years

Less: Amounts due within one year shown under

current liabilities

Amounts shown under non-current liabilities

RFFE
AA=Z1H
At 30 June
2020
ANRWT 70
RMB’000

3,190,829
100,179

3,291,008

REFZRE
AR=1H
At 30 June
2020
AR
RMB’000

2,321,741
461,866
507,401

3,291,008

(2,321,741)

969,267

2020 4E H 3 #§t % INTERIM REPORT 2020 5 9

B FE— LA
+ZA=+—H
At 31 December
2019
ARWFT T
RMB’000

3,658,836
82,957

3,741,793

At 31 December
2019
ANRBT T
RMB000

2,393,017
483,150
865,626

3,741,793

(2,393,017)

1,348,776
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12 BANK LOANS (Continued)

At the end of respective reporting periods, the following assets were pledged

to banks to secure banking facilities granted to the Group:

REFZFRE

AR=1H

At 30 June

2020

ANBRH T

RMB’000

Property, plant and equipment 60,133
Investment properties 4,347,800
Financial assets at FVTPL 209,092
Properties under development for sale 4,147,592
Completed properties for sale 586,392
Restricted bank deposits 230,000
Total 9,581,009
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R ZF— L
+=HA=+—H
At 31 December
2019
ANRBT T
RMB000

6,956
3,865,200
203,144
2,997,061
508,245
566,500

8,147,106
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13 SENIOR NOTES

As at 1 January

Net proceeds from issuing during the
period/year

Interest for the period/year

Interest paid/payable for the period/year

Exchange loss for the period/year

Senior notes repurchase/redemption

Repayment of principal during the period/year

Total

Repayable within 1 year
Repayable after 1 year but within 5 years

Senior notes

RFFE
AA=Z1H
At 30 June
2020
ANRWT 70
RMB’000

2,686,511

1,376,051
225,078
(171,322)

51,958
(728,586)

3,439,690

REFZRE
AR=1H
At 30 June
2020
AR
RMB’000

2,215,294
1,224,396

3,439,690
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i
+ZA=+—H
At 31 December
2019
ARWFT T
RMB’000

3,326,739

1,206,461
320,069
(251,445)
49,189
(998,158)
(966,344)

At 31 December
2019
ANRBT T
RMB000

185,149
2,501,362

2,686,511
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(TSR g8 ) o 55 DU 4t (8 o 5
PELLETTRHE - 3 H 3 3 #x%%ﬁ
PR 7] LTl e SR U e R IR
ﬂﬁsx%ﬁ§>ﬁUéﬁﬁit¥$i
A5F > T I 4 50 B ) o A R —F
—JUET—H = HEIH - 81755 MUt ok
TR ERNABHEME  RAHME
JHERMES RME—RARR®E - R =%
~f$@ﬁ THH AR FVEATRHON
W 7B 5528 B B A RS | BT AR 4 AR
200,000,000 35 TG 1) 57 P b 48 50 22 55 19 2 A1
B - FAINEM B EEAAR SN
101.237% ° A BRI RE I ER A A F H
ME—F—LFNH+—HHASNR -

AT AR Je T U 5 AR A
T ik 8 AR 4 4058 B 162,700,000 3 T Y 56 Y
MELEE - R _F—FET—H=H>
AR ) B AR 2 BB R O DU B
{1 £ 5 A< 42 %8.137,300,000 3 T ©

RZFE—NFE—H+—H o AN F
BE47 7R 4 B 200,000,000 35 TG [ 8 22 %
(MSEFABE TR ]) o 5 R L IR L
FEIUFEHE > BN R 5 5 A R A
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L R AR —F A
TA RS - BT A MECEERE A
BAEEGHME AR EHBRME
ERE—BARRE - R _F—NFE=H
HH AN R BTN S5 5 A
PR 7 7] T A 7 4 8 4160,000,000 3 T 1
5B T R SRR I B AMB R B o WS
A BE R 1 5 A & B 1Y 89.024% © 7%
SHATZBOFHERAAARAA®A
Z-NE_AZFHEHMAER - R F
—NWFENLHZFH > $E@%*%$ﬁ%
WM RE 528 5 BT A IRA R i i 4 4 48
#40,000,000 3% 7T 1 5 i 4t 8 5 SR 4R AR
SMEB IR EEYE o EHIN RN B EE A A
SR 91.04433% % F BN RS
HAANR B A _-FZ—NEAA-TH
YNNI

13

SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

On 3 November 2016, the Company issued at par senior notes in an
aggregate principal amount of US$100,000,000 (the “Fourth Senior
Notes”). The Fourth Senior Notes are US$ denominated and listed on the
Singapore Exchange Limited. The Fourth Senior Notes carry interest at a
nominal rate of 8.25% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears, and will
mature on 3 November 2019, unless earlier redeemed or repurchased. The
purpose of the Fourth Senior Notes is to refinance existing indebtedness,
and to fund new property projects and for general corporate purposes. On 25
April 2017, the Company issued additional senior notes of the Fourth Senior
Notes in an aggregate principal amount of US$200,000,000 listed on the
Singapore Exchange Limited. The offering price of the additional notes was
101.237% of the principal amount. Details of the additional notes are set out
in the Company’s announcement dated 11 April 2017.

During 2018 and 2019, the Company repurchased and cancelled a total
principal amount of US$162,700,000 of the Fourth Senior Notes. On 3
November 2019, the Company repaid the outstanding principal amount of
US$137,300,000 of the Fourth Senior Notes in full on maturity.

On 11 January 2018, the Company issued at par senior notes in an aggregate
principal amount of US$200,000,000 (the “Fifth Senior Notes”). The Fifth
Senior Notes are US$ denominated and listed on the Singapore Exchange
Limited. The Fifth Senior Notes carry interest at a nominal rate of 7% per
annum, payable semi-annually in arrears, and will mature on 18 January
2021, unless earlier redeemed or repurchased. The purpose of the Fifth Senior
Notes is to refinance existing indebtedness, and to fund new property projects
and for general corporate purposes. On 5 March 2019, the Company issued
additional senior notes of the Fifth Senior Notes in an aggregate principal
amount of US$160,000,000 listed on the Singapore Exchange Limited. The
offering price of these additional notes was 89.024% of the principal amount.
Details of these additional notes are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 25 February 2019. On 20 September 2019, the Group further issued
additional senior notes of the Fifth Senior Notes in an aggregate principal
amount of US$40,000,000 listed on the Singapore Exchange Limited. The
offering price of these additional notes was 91.04433% of the principal
amount. Details of these additional notes are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 20 September 2019.
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SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

The Company repurchased and cancelled principal amounts of
US$43,353,000, US$43,085,000 and US$17,500,000 of the Fifth Senior
Notes on 17 January 2020, 23 March 2020 and 18 June 2020, respectively.

On 6 January 2020, the Group issued senior notes in an aggregate principal
amount of US$200,000,000 (the “Sixth Senior Notes”). The Sixth Senior
Notes are US$ denominated and listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited and the Singapore Exchange Limited. The offering price of the Sixth
Senior Notes was 99.943% of the principal amount. The Sixth Senior Notes
carry interest at a nominal rate of 12.95% per annum, payable semi-annually
in arrears, and will mature on 14 March 2022, unless earlier redeemed or
repurchased. The purpose of the Sixth Senior Notes is to refinance existing
indebtedness, and to fund new property projects and for general corporate
purposes. Details of the Additional Notes of the Sixth Senior Notes are set

out in the Company’s announcement dated 6 January 2020.
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14 JBeAS ~ i B It B 14 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
N R EBENA=TH BT The number of issued and fully paid shares is 1,802,456,000 and
Je 885 BB B H £51,802,456,000 i the share capital is RMB113,099,000 at 30 June 2020. There is no
B BeA By N R ¥ 113,099,000 G © 74 movement of authorised and issued capital during the period ended 30
WEFFENA =T H IR June 2020.

HE R EITRA ML E) -

(W) PR R R R 2 R (i)  Dividends payable to equity shareholders attributable to

the interim period

e Jwe 23 “EIUF
2020 2019
ANBH T ANRET T
RMB’000 RMB'000
i R A AR © 5UR BUR A Interim dividend declared and paid after

Ik S E T the interim period is nil (2019: nil)

(ZF— U E50) - :
M ¥ A T i A R The interim dividend has not been recognised as a liability at
HAaf- the end of the reporting period.

(i) PR A RIRAT L — 1 (ii)  Dividends payable to equity shareholders attributable to
BB BEE T B SRR 2 R the previous financial year, approved and paid during the
interim period

BEAA=ZTHIEAMEA

Six months ended 30 June

CEROFRE —E N
2020 2019
AR¥Fx ANRBTF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
JA T — {18 o 1A 8 ] 2 A Final dividend in respect of the
JRAT b — 1 B B4 B previous financial year, approved and
Z KRB B K paid during the following interim
B4 0.016 % 7T period, of HK$0.016 (equivalent to
(FE ™ AR ¥ 0.01570) RMBO0.015) per share (six months
(BEZF—JUE ended 30 June 2019: HK$0.019
ANHEZTHIEAMEA (equivalent to RMB0.017))
0.019#7T
(FE A AR ¥ 0.01778)) 26,313 30,120
BERBBE TR E BT The calculation of dividend per share is based on 1,802,456,000
1,802,456,000 & % 4 it &+ 55 15 ordinary shares in issue.
o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

14 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

Pursuant to the Company’s share option scheme approved on 10
December 2012 (the “Share Option Scheme”), the Company
has the right to grant options to any executive, non-executive or
independent non-executive directors or any employees (whether
full-time or part-time) of the Company, or any of its subsidiaries or
associated companies or any other person whom the Directors consider,
in their sole discretion, has contributed or will contribute to the
Group (“Participants”) to subscribe for shares in the Company for
a consideration of HK$1.00 for each lot of share options granted for
the primary purpose of providing incentives to the Participants. The
Share Option Scheme will remain effective for a period of ten years

commencing from 10 December 2012.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
under the Share Option Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the
ordinary shares of the Company in issue at the date of approval of the
limit, without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The
number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which options
granted and may be granted to any individual in any one year is not
permitted to exceed 1% of the ordinary shares of the Company in
issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. Options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director in excess of 0.1% the Company’s
share capital or with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be

approved in advance by the Company’s shareholders.

The exercise price is determined by the Directors, and will not be
less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the ordinary shares of
the Company as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price
of the ordinary shares of the Company as stated in the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the grant; and (iii) the nominal

value of ordinary shares of the Company.
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14 JBEAS - filifl BB B, ) 14 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Concinued)

RoFE—WELAZF=H AN
AmETEEERAL REBRHE
8,700,000 173 Ff 27 #5 Tt 3 3 ik & 1Y
RO HER R ([ — U
B D) W

il B4 % — I A A A
ACEE (TCEBAK ) WM [ —
118 S DB AT B 1 458 g A A A B N R M
200 & B cE Ll b o B 58 UG AL
Byt R ATf o

il 7 24 B JB Atk v B T A D i —
18] S A B Y 458 3 4 4 A i A 2 (H
AR 200 # T > AIE 5B H
WA AT AT > 3 1% B B IR 4 & i
J& WA A AL AR E
ERNRM 20080 B0 LE -

i 1 5% 4 © S At S g 201 ] i —
118 B BUAF JEE A A A% AR 2 £ B (B
BEEERERTE) - OBt
YA 7 B E B o

BRoFEFEAAZTHER F
—HEFZAZ+—H > REHK
FETH B O 452 10 B i A AT 10 19 1 i
Jie ¥ R i 1 B E £ 8,700,000 1%
7228 /) A 3% B B B 47 R 4 S B
0.48% °

On 23 July 2014, the Company granted 8,700,000 share options (the
“2014 Options”) to certain key management personnel and employees
with certain performance target determined by the Directors as

follows:

If the audited net profit of the fiscal year immediately preceding to
the period when a tranche of the 2014 Options becomes vested (the
“Vested Tranche”) is RMB200 million or more, the portion of the

Vested Tranche will be completely exercisable.

If the audited net profit of the fiscal year immediately preceding
to the period when the Vested Tranche is more than zero but less
than RMB200 million, the portion of the Vested Tranche will not
be exercisable, and will be automatically deferred to the next year
of vesting period and so forth until the audited net profit meets the
required RMB200 million.

If the audited net profit of the fiscal year immediately preceding to the
period when the Vested Tranche is negative (i.e. audited net loss), the

portion of the Vested Tranche will be cancelled immediately.

At 30 June 2020 and 31 December 2019, the number of shares in
respect of which options under the Share Option Scheme had been
granted and remained outstanding was 8,700,000 shares, representing

0.48% of the total shates of the Company in issue at that date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

14 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

During the six months ended 30 June 2020 and the six months ended
30 June 2019, no share options were granted, exercised, cancelled or

lapsed by the Company under the Share Option Scheme.

The fair value of the 2014 Options was determined at the date of
grant using, among others, the Black-Scholes-Merton Option Pricing
Model based on the respective vesting periods of the share options in
accordance with the variables and assumptions based on the Directors’
best estimate upon the grant date. The total estimated fair value of the
share options granted on the grant date was HK$2,032,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB1,603,000). During the current period, the
Company recognised share option expenses of RMB115,000 (six
months ended 30 June 2019: RMB114,000) in relation to share

options granted by the Company.

No options were exercised during the six months ended 30 June 2020
(2019: nil).
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15 il THZ APt & 15 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS
(1) RTFEER (i) Fair value hierarchy
AR5 R R B S ME )5 13 The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
WA FEREREZ =M financial instruments measured at the end of the reporting
PSR - RS R IR K period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair
PSR 2 AL E e M TR value hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13, Fair value measurement.
ZAPEEIIR TR AFE The level into which a fair value measurement is classified is
Rl A S e VS determined with reference to the observability and significance
k557 % BT i A g 2 v of the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:
ZERREBE T AR T R E
° AL R o Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level
W AE MRFEHA 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets
A ] B E A BRI for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date
B 8 2 R A R R
R VAR
° B AAGE - A o Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2
P AL - BVR RS inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level
F—MZ AT BEmAE 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
DY NN NCIE Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data
28 TN /A I are not available
A A EEARA
AR 7 85 Bk 2 A (6
J FEEMAGE - ERAEX . Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant
ZLIR k-3 NI N unobservable inputs
FH
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Recurring fair value
measurement

Financial assets:

Listed equity securities

Listed bonds

Unquoted equity
investments

Other financial
instruments

Recurring fair value
measurement

Financial assets:

Listed equity securities

Listed bonds

Ungquoted equity
investments

Other financial
instruments
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

()

7
“RRE
AH=1H

AV
Fair value at
30 June 2020
AR¥ T
RMB000

2,667
6,246

209,092

10,972

Jis
SR
+=H
=+—H
#/FE
Fair value at
31 December
2019

NR BT
RMB000

5,925
7,763

203,144

10,760

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

REZBZFEAA=ZTH
A A R4 B R
Fair value measurements as at
30 June 2020 categorised into

B I B
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
ARBFT — ARMFT — ARNFE
RMB’000 RMB000 RMB000
2,667 = _
6,246 - -
= - 209,092
= - 10,972
AV EN R
A FER 2B
Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2019 categorised into

5% B8 P
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
ARBTIT ARBTT AR BT
RMB000 RMB 000 RMB 000
5,525 - -
7,763 - -
- - 203,144
- - 10,760
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

()

(1)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the six months ended 30 June 2020, there were no
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of
Level 3 (2019: nil). The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers
between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the

reporting period in which they occur.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

The fair value of unquoted equity investments is determined
using market approach which is a valuation technique that uses
prices and other relevant information obtained from market

transactions.

The movement during the period in the balance of Level 3 fair

BT value measurements is as follows:
REFZZE B =&~
AA=Z1H AA=1H
At 30 June At 30 June
2020 2019
ANRWT 7 ANRET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
I M P A 1 T oA Unquoted equity investments and other
EMTH financial instruments:
w—H—H At 1 January 213,904 173,002
A 4 45 TR AN Net unrealised gains or losses recognised in
o 5 B0 5 5 48 15 AR profit or loss during the period 5,948 19,109
HEE 50, 2% #H Exchange difference 212 -
WAH=ZTH At 30 June 220,064 192,111
R IR A B E Total gains or losses for the period included
FAIR S 09 B A i g in profit or loss for assets held at the end
B T A of the reporting period 5,948 19,109

7R B 1 AR SR A S 0 1
FBEAS B PR 2 T AR Y
AT Wi A S50 1R 4R 4 AT

Any gains or losses arising from the remeasurement of the
Group’s unquoted equity investments held for strategic

purposes are recognised in the profit or loss.
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15 BT HZ A& @) 15 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

NE-NET A= -H A The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments carried
FEERNAZTH AL at cost or amortised cost were not materially different from their
2% 5B B AR 51 R Y 4 A T R R fair values as at 31 December 2019 and 30 June 2020 except for the
TR B BELFC 2 - (I o o K 22 5 5 ffE following financial instruments, for which their carrying amounts and
5 4 b T B BR AN o 1 S Y R fair value are disclosed below:

AP HERIT
AFFE A =& U4
AH=Z1H +ZA=1+—H
At 30 June 2020 At 31 December 2019
W T i AP HR T (L A
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
ARETL  ARWTL ARWTT ARETI
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
B Senior notes
(L FE HEASFIS) (including interest payable) 3,601,559 3,459,446 2,771,548 2,661,420
16 7R 16 COMMITMENTS

BT RE R ZFE—JUEF
AREHH oAt
At 30 June At 31 December

2020 2019
AR A RIWEF T

RMB000 RMB'000

EFT4 Contracted for 1,295,353 614,385
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17 AR

TF

17 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

REFZFH A ZF— A
ARSTR FoA=—H
At 30 June At 31 December

2020 2019
ANRWT 70 ANRET T
RMB’000 RMB'000
A 5 LR ) $RAT 4R A Mortgage loan guarantees provided by the
11 2 48 B 3R 1R Group to banks in favour of its customers 492,167 317,790

Z S PE DR IR SRAT W B % 5 16 SRAT B2 SCA B
W) S 1 ) S T A A AR L o 4 R
ARG IR o A AR
SR BSE DR AT IR TERR ) A - (E I A
K> HH BRI AL EY) SRR EL ] B
PEELAR o ORI A 4R8O 5 AT S B S —
FOREAA TR F-UET TN
=t H A -

These guarantees will be released upon receiving the property ownership
certificate of the respective properties by the banks from the customers as
a pledge for security to the mortgage loans granted. In the opinion of the
Directors, the fair values of these financial guarantee contracts of the Group
at initial recognition are insignificant and the Directors consider that the
possibility of default by the purchasers of the Group’s properties is remote.
Accordingly, no value has been recognised at the inception of the guarantee
contracts and as at 30 June 2020 and 31 December 2019.
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18 EEEBIGTRS 18 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

74 1B B — ] o 92 PR R ) The Group has transactions with a company controlled by a controlling
A (TR R A W) 1)~ — A o ik shareholder (“controlling shareholder’s company”), a company
SR JB g% 1R 1 B A 4 ) (T controlled by a close member of a controlling shareholder’s family
JB S R A B B A R L)~ W A (“controlling shareholder’s family member’s company”), associates
Raa BT S - BRE G T and joint ventures. In addition to the related party information
B 755 Sk % A A 350 45 28 1 R O disclosed elsewhere in the notes to the consolidated interim financial
JrE RN o AR AR R T 2 5 4 A statements, the Group entered into the following related party
FrUAT B 7 58 5 transactions for the periods presented:

BEAA=Z+THIEAMA

Six months ended 30 June

I

2020 2019
AR T ARHT T
RMB’000 RMB'000
WEWET - Sales of properties to:
PR R 0 R A Controlling shareholder’s family member - 1,406
ARRERRE > Al B2 h The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the above
Tais HH B R o i — i Sk transactions with related parties were conducted in the ordinary course
BRI HLE A B 52 5 1 i el ok K of business and on normal commercial terms or in accordance with the
HEAT o terms of the agreements governing such transactions.

2020 4E H 3 #§t % INTERIM REPORT 2020 73



o 1 A S A A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

18 FEBBLTRY ) 18

(b) e W A Mo 5 sk B

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(b) Amounts due from related parties

/A S 22 W ZF— L
ANA=Z+TH +TZHA=+—H
At 30 June At 31 December
2020 2019
AR EF AR T
RMB’000 RMB’000
Bk Joint ventures 32,695 31,145
H é.'é’/l} | Associates = 13,920
32,695 45,065
() AT B Iy sk JE (c)  Amounts due to related parties
PR RAE = FE— U
ANA=Z+H +-H=+—H
At 30 June At 31 December
2020 2019
A R¥Fr AR BFr
RMB’000 RMB’000
HEhE Joint ventures 86,881 115,431
-/l Associates 251,377 323,428
338,258 438,859
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FARAATHE FFFARA
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NEZFFENAZH AR
S [ ST 5 AR 4 AR A 20,000,000 32
TCZ A M R e R F
“ERENAZH BRI E R
5 2 i A R AR 48 5 156,070,000
T o S BN AN A S
B FIEE R H M B —F ~F4E A H
“t+—HZAE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

19 NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD

On 9 July 2020, the Company issued senior notes in an aggregate
principal amount of US$170,000,000 (the “Seventh Senior Notes”).
The Seventh Senior Notes are US$ denominated and listed on the
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited. The Seventh Senior
Notes carry interest at 14.25% per annum, payable semi-annually in

arrears, and will mature on 9 January 2023.

On 13 July 2020, the Company, through a tender offer, successfully
repurchased part of the senior notes, the then outstanding amount of
which was US$296,062,000, carrying interest rate at 7.00% and in
2021 (the “Fifth Senior Notes”), in an aggregate principal amount of
US$119,992,000. After the cancellation of the repurchased Fifth Senior
Notes on 13 July 2020, the aggregate principal amount of the Fifth
Senior Notes which remained outstanding and subject to the terms of
the indenture governing the Fifth Senior Notes is US$176,070,000 as
at 13 July 2020. Please refer to the announcements published by the
Company on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange date 29 June 2020, 30
June 2020, 10 July 2020 and 14 July 2020.

On 20 August 2020, the Company repurchased and cancelled
part of the Fifth Senior Notes in an aggregate principal amount of
US$20,000,000. As at 20 August 2020, the outstanding principal
amount of the Fifth Senior Notes is US$156,070,000. Please refer
to the announcement published by the Company on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange dated 21 August 2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

19 FEa B 5 W4 3 () 19 NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD (Continued)

AZEZERFELATIME > ALHE On 14 July 2020, the Group subscripted for 20,000,000 shares of
DA 8 I 1 5 i 3.93 W T w8 I T HE Ganglong China Property Group Limited at the subscription price
o b E A A R R R A U of HK$3.93 per share in its global offering for the purpose of listing
38 r b i AT 9 20,000,000 i A on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The total consideration paid
BREEE By o A R AT I AR by the Company is approximately HK$79,393,000 (equivalent to
#)5579,393,000 7T (R & 1A A IR RMB71,694,261).

71,694,261 7C)

20  COVID-19 #4735 3 20 IMPACTS OF COVID-19 PANDEMIC

HF _FEYEL > COVID-19 1T 4 The Covid-19 pandemic since early 2020 has brought about additional
AR B B E BRI AR T #AMY A E R uncertainties surrounding the Group’s operating environment and has
o M AR I S B IR D s R impacted the Group’s operations and financial position.

& o

7S T — % U1 R U H o e e A A B S The Group has been closely monitoring the impact of the developments
W2 N BB S o HHEEE on the Group’s business and has put in place contingency measures.
17— RIEE B A JOE A 180G The management has implemented a series of operating cost and capital
DR A0 7 A St S Ml B e A4 ) A4 D) expenditure control measures in order to lower the breakeven point of
JRE 4 5 WA IS b o M DA B AR operations and preserve liquidity to weather the current economic crisis. The
e A P B S A T A o Group will keep the contingency measures under review as the situation

evolves.
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